2008

# Victor Plastering, Inc. v. Citibank Federal Savings Bank and Citimortgage, Inc.: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### III. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is taken from the trial court's memorandum ruling of May 9, 2007 and final order and judgment of June 7, 2007. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78A-4-103(2)(j).

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

**1. Must the Citi Appellees have an interest in the lien property to have standing to contest the validity of the Appellant Victor's lien?**

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The question of whether a given individual or association has standing to request a particular relief is primarily a question of law, although there may be factual findings that bear on the issue, an appellate court will review a question of law for correctness.<sup>1</sup> An appellate court will review such factual determinations made by a trial court with deference.<sup>2</sup> Because of the important policy considerations involved in granting or denying standing, an appellate court will closely review trial court determinations of whether a given set of facts fits the legal requirements for standing, granting minimal discretion to the trial court. *Id.* at 938, 939.

PRESERVATION BELOW: The Appellant Victor raised and argued the issue of the Citi Appellees's standing before the court below. R.256, 257. As well, unless

---

<sup>1</sup> *Kearns-Tribune Corp. v. Wilkinson*, 946 P.2d 372, 373 (Utah 1997).

<sup>2</sup> *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935-36 (Utah 1994).

a party has standing a court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate a dispute. A lack of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time.<sup>3</sup> "[S]tanding is a jurisdictional requirement that must be satisfied" before a court may entertain a controversy between two parties.<sup>4</sup> "[T]he moving party must have standing to invoke the jurisdiction of the court."<sup>5</sup> Under the traditional test for standing, "the interests of the parties must be adverse" and "the parties seeking relief must have a legally protectible interest in the controversy."<sup>6</sup>

**2. Did the Citi Appellees proffer competent evidence that they did not have timely actual knowledge of the commencement of Victor's lien action?**

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Whether an affidavit proffers facts establishing the elements necessary to prove a claim or defense is a matter of law which an appellate court reviews with no deference to the trial court's interpretation.<sup>7</sup>

PRESERVATION BELOW: The Appellant raised this issue in its memorandum in support of its motion for new trial (R. 218-220, 258-264).

---

<sup>3</sup> See *Barnard v. Wassermann*, 855 P.2d 243, 248 (Utah 1983).

<sup>4</sup> *Wash. County Water Conservancy Dist. v. Morgan*, 2003 UT 58, P 6 n.2, 82 P.3d 1125; accord *Harris v. Springville City*, 712 P.2d 188, 190 (Utah 1986) ("[L]ack of standing is jurisdictional.");

<sup>5</sup> *Jenkins v. Swan*, 675 P.2d 1145, 1148 (Utah 1983)

<sup>6</sup> *Id.* at 1148.

<sup>7</sup> See *Goodnow v. Sullivan*, 2002 UT 21, ¶¶7, 8.

**3. Did the Citi Appellees meet their burden of production on their summary judgment claims?**

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Whether a trial court has properly granted summary judgment is a question of law which an appellate court will review for correctness, granting no deference to the trial court.<sup>8</sup>

PRESERVATION BELOW: The Appellant raised this issue in its Rule 59 motion ( R. 256-264) and at oral argument.

**IV. CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS**

The constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations that pertain to this appeal are identified in the Table of Authorities and are fully set forth in the body of this brief or in the addendum to the brief.

**V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Appellant Victor Plastering timely filed it lien action to enforce its lien for stucco work it had performed on the subject property, but did not file a lis pendens in relation to that lien action. It then filed an amended complaint and with that amended complaint commenced an in rem proceeding to declare its lien superior to the Appellee Citi Appellees's alleged mortgage on the lien property. The Citi Appellees answered, obtained a substitution of Citi Federal Savings Bank for Direct

---

<sup>8</sup> See *Badger v. Brooklyn Canal Co.*, 922P. 2d 745 (Utah 1996).

Mortgage Corporation as a defendant and then moved for summary judgment against Victor.

However, the Citi Appellees summary judgment papers were totally devoid of any claim that they had an interest in the lien property. The affidavits filed in support of that motion for summary judgment failed to allege any such interest and the Citi Defendants failed to argue that had any interest in the lien property. The supporting affidavits also failed to provide any factual foundation for their conclusion that the Citi Appellees were never provided with timely actual knowledge of the commencement of Victor's lien action. Victor moved to strike those affidavits but on the same day that Victor filed that motion the trial court granted the Citi Appellees summary judgment.

Victor then moved for a new trial and after further briefing and argument on that motion the trial court denied that motion.

## **VI. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

April 13, 2004      The Appellant Victor timely filed an action to enforce its mechanic's lien against property in Utah County. Victor had stuccoed the house constructed on that property and had not been paid. R. 6.

February 10, 2006 The trial court granted Victor leave to amend its complaint and

include in the amended complaint its in rem claims against Swanson's lien. R. 72

August 21, 2006 The Appellee Citibank Federal Savings Bank answered Victor's amended complaint. R. 98

Sept. 28, 2006 Citi Federal Savings Bank was substituted in as a defendant for Direct Mortgage Corporation. R. 125

October 25, 2006 The Appellee Citimortgage, Inc. answered Victor's amended complaint. R. 132

Nov. 17, 2006 The Citi Appellees moved for summary judgment but failed to allege they had any interest in the lien property. R.135, 170-173.

Nov. 17, 2006 The affidavits of Jim Beech (R. 142) and Wayne Flynn (R. 138) are filed. Neither affidavit provides any factual foundation for the legal conclusion their corporations did not have actual knowledge.

January 16, 2007 Victor moved to strike the affidavits of Beech and Flynn (although this motion to strike was entered on the trial court's docket on January 18, 2007, it was filed on January 16, 2007). R.221

January 16, 2007 The trial court granted the Citi Appellees motion for summary judgment. R.213

March 7, 2007 Victor filed a motion for a new trial on the Citi Appellees motion for summary judgment, alleging that the court erred in granting summary judgment to the Citi Appellees because they had failed to allege an interest in the lien property, had failed to prove a lack of actual knowledge and had failed to meet their burden of production on summary judgment. R. 253, 266.

April 16, 2007 Victor's motion is orally argued before the court. R. 394

May 9, 2007 The court issued a memorandum ruling denying Victor's motion for new trial. R.402

June 7, 2007 Judgment is entered in favor of the Citi Appellees. R.416

June 8, 2007 Victor filed its notice of appeal. R.418

## **VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Regardless of whether any opposition is filed to a summary judgment motion, unless that motion “is made and supported as provided for by” by Rule 56 Ut. R. Civ. P. summary judgment cannot be entered against the non-moving party. At summary judgment the Citi Appellees failed to prove or argue they had an interest in the lien property. Victor’s lien action was in rem against the Citi Appellees and unless they

had an interest in the lien property they could not show a distinct and palpable injury that gave them an interest in contesting Victor's claim to lien priority. Having a right to appear in an in rem action is different than a right to defend on the merits and unless the Citi Appellees had something at stake in the in rem lien action they had no standing to contest Victor's lien claims. Because the Citi Appellees failed to make any showing of an interest in the lien property the trial court erred in granting them summary judgment.

As well, the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(2) only benefit persons with an interest in the lien property. Unless a person has an interest in the lien property, they have no standing to invoke the lis pendens requirements of § 38-1-11(2). The Citi Appellees failed to show they had an interest in the lien property and thus excluded themselves from asserting the requirements of § 38-1-11(2) against Victor.

Finally, regardless of whether the Citi Appellees could put the issue of timely actual knowledge of the commencement of Victor's lien action into issue at summary judgment, they failed to proffer competent evidence on the issue of timely actual knowledge. Although at trial Victor bears the burden of proof on the issue of actual knowledge, at summary judgment the Citi Appellees bear the initial burden of producing evidence showing they did not have timely actual knowledge. The Beech

and Flynn affidavits are conclusory in the extreme and provide no supporting factual foundation for their legal conclusion that the Citi Appellees did not have timely actual knowledge of the commencement of Victor's lien action. Without that factual foundation it is impossible for a trier of fact to determine whether the evidence is competent; that is, relevant, material and otherwise admissible. And by reciting only that they did not have "actual knowledge" the Citi Appellees legal conclusion tells the reader nothing about what the affiants mean by "actual knowledge." At summary judgment a trial court is not capable of weighing conflicting inferences on material issues of fact, and the trial court erred in finding that the Beech and Flynn affidavits provided competent evidence.

Because the Citi Appellees lacked standing to contest Victor's in rem lien claims on the merits, lacked standing to invoke the lis pendens requirements of § 38-1-11(2) and failed to proffer competent evidence on the issue of timely actual knowledge, the trial court erred in granting the Citi Appellees summary judgment and Victor is entitled to a reversal of that judgment, and an award of its attorney fees before this Court and the court below.

## VIII. ARGUMENT

### A. **The Citi Appellees must have an interest in the lien property to have standing to contest the validity of the Appellant Victor's lien.**

In their summary judgment motion the Citi Appellees's entirely failed to make



any assertion that they had a legal or equitable interest in the property which was the subject of Victor's lien action. R. 135, 137, 141, 157, 160–173. Unless they have an interest in the subject property they have no standing to contest the priority of Victor's lien.

i. Unless They Have An Interest In The Liened Property The Citi Appellees Cannot Invoke The Actual Knowledge Requirement of § 38-1-11(2).

The Citi Appellees cannot look to Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(2) for statutory standing, because it only requires the recording of “a notice of the pendency of the action, in the manner provided in actions affecting the title or right to possession of real property . . .”<sup>9</sup> Unless the Citi Appellees had an interest in the subject property which could affect “the title or right to possession of [that] real property,” the Citi Appellees were not within the class of persons the lis pendens requirement of § 38-1-11(2) was intended to benefit, which means that by failing to prove they had an interest in the subject property the Citi Appellees failed to show that they had standing to claim the benefit of that lis pendens requirement.

In *Projects Unlimited v. Copper State Thrift & Loan Co.*<sup>10</sup> the Utah Supreme Court specifically found that § 38-1-11(2) was only intended to give notice to persons

---

<sup>9</sup> Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(2).

<sup>10</sup> 798 P.2d 738 (Utah 1990).

with an interest in the lien property:

By contrast, it follows logically, timely recordation of the lis pendens imparts constructive notice to all persons concerned with the property of the action to enforce the lien, see *Utah Code Ann. § 78-40-2*(1989), regardless of whether they were named as parties or had actual knowledge of the action. [emphasis added]

Thus, unless the Citi Appellees are within the class of persons which can invoke the lis pendens requirements of § 38-1-11(2), whether or not they had actual knowledge of Victor's lien action is irrelevant to whether Victor could proceed with its lien action against the Citi Appellees.

The *Projects* court's specific reference to Utah Code Ann. § 78-40-2,<sup>11</sup> which provides for the filing of a lis pendens, confirms that at the time that Victor served the Citi Appellees they could not invoke the lis pendens requirements of § 38-11-1(2) unless they had an interest in the lien property. Section 78-40-2 states, in part, that "a purchaser or encumbrancer of the property affected thereby shall be deemed to have constructive notice of the pendency of the action," confirming that its provisions are intended to benefit only persons with an interest in the property against which the lis pendens is filed.

Admittedly, where it is established that a person has an interest in the subject property and that person challenges Victor's lien, § 38-1-11(3) imposes the burden

---

<sup>11</sup> Amended and re-codified as Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-1303.

of proof upon Victor at trial to show actual knowledge. But if, as the Citi Appellees urge, the scope of § 38-1-11(2) is broadened to include persons without an interest in the subject property, a lien claimant's action would be subject to intervention by any stranger to the property who cared to intervene and challenge the action.

For example, suppose a case where a mechanic's lien action is timely commenced but without the filing of a lis pendens. In that case, can a stranger with no interest in the real property at issue intervene in the action pursuant to § 38-1-13 by asserting that the lien holder did not file a lis pendens and that the stranger never had actual knowledge on a timely basis of the mechanic's lien action? According to the Citi Appellees's construction of § 38-1-11(2), because that stranger never had actual knowledge, they would have statutory standing to intervene in the mechanic's lien to have it declared void as to them.

Of course, the first question that occurs is whether § 38-1-11(2) was intended to benefit persons with no interest in the subject property, thus providing the world with standing to challenge a mechanic's lien that has not been perfected by filing a lis pendens. Only if the Citi Appellees's construction of § 38-1-11(2) is adopted does the stranger in the above example have standing under § 38-1-13 to intervene.

The glaring problem with such a construction is that it makes nugatory the requirement that a lis pendens be recorded so that notice is provided to persons with

an interest affecting the title or right to possession of that real property. Instead, the *lis pendens* requirement is read down to requiring only the recording of a notice of a pendency of the action. Under the Citi Appellees's reading as soon as any person that did not have an interest in the real property (typically all persons in the State of Utah excepting those few persons with liens or other interests in a particular residential property) learned of an unperfected lien action, they could intervene and move to void the unperfected lien as against them. Even if the lien holder immediately conceded that the lien was void as against the stranger, the lien holder would still be liable for the successful intervenor's attorney fees incurred to file the motion to intervene. Unless it was the intent of the legislature to open the court's doors to intermeddlers and vexatious claims, the Citi Appellees's construction cannot be the construction applied to § 38-1-11(2).

ii. Without An Interest In The Liened Property the Citi Appellees Lacked Standing To Contest On The Merits Victor's Lien Claims.

The Citi Appellees's inability to prove any adverse effect from Victor's lien action is key to showing that under Utah law Citi Appellees lacked standing to seek relief under § 11(2). Unlike the federal judiciary which is constrained by the Article III case or controversy clause, in determining whether a litigant has standing Utah courts focus on the separation of powers doctrine. Standing is a concept "rooted in

the historical and constitutional role of the judiciary" as one of three separate and equal branches of government.<sup>12</sup> Moreover, "the question of whether a given individual or association has standing to request a particular relief is primarily a question of law, although there may be factual findings that bear on the issue."<sup>13</sup> Under the traditional test for standing, a litigant must demonstrate a "particularized" injury, which in a lien action can only occur if the named defendant has an interest in the property.<sup>14</sup>

In Utah foreclosure proceedings are in rem<sup>15</sup> and the question then arises of how it is that Citi Appellees, which had no interest in the subject property, can demonstrate a particularized injury. As to in rem proceedings, the Utah Supreme Court has approved the classification employed by the U.S. Supreme Court in addressing in rem jurisdiction:

As explained in n. 17 of *Shaffer*, the Supreme Court there chose to use the term "in rem" to describe both in rem and quasi in rem jurisdictions. In quoting *Hanson v. Denckla*, 357 U.S. 235, 246, 2 L. Ed. 2d 1283, 78 S. Ct. 1228, n. 12 (1958), the *Shaffer* Court did acknowledge the distinctions in these types of jurisdiction. That quote from *Hanson*

---

<sup>12</sup> *Jenkins v. Swan*, 675 P.2d at 1149.

<sup>13</sup> *Kearns-Tribune Corp. v. Wilkinson*, 946 P.2d 372, 373 (Utah 1997).

<sup>14</sup> *Soc'y of Prof'l Journalists v. Bullock*, 743 P.2d 1166, 1170 (Utah 1987).

<sup>15</sup> See *P.I.E. Employees Fed. Credit Union v. Bass*, 759 P.2d 1144, FN4 (Utah 1988) where the court ruled: "A proceeding to foreclose upon a mortgage is considered an action in rem or quasi in rem under Utah law. (citations omitted)."

stated:

A judgment in rem affects the interests of all persons in designated property. A judgment quasi in rem affects the interests of particular persons in designated property. The latter is of two types. In one the plaintiff is seeking to secure a pre-existing claim in the subject property and to extinguish or establish the nonexistence of similar interests of particular persons. In the other the plaintiff seeks to apply what he concedes to be the property of the defendant to the satisfaction of a claim against him. Restatement, Judgments, 5-9."<sup>16</sup>

Victor's action against other persons that had or might have an interest in the subject property was of the first type of quasi in rem proceeding identified in the passage from *Hanson v. Denckla*<sup>17</sup> just quoted.

Because the proceeding below was in rem Victor merely sought the adjudication of the rights (if any) of particular persons in the subject property and did not claim any personal relief against any of the possible lien holding defendants. Because this was an in rem proceeding, merely being named as a party defendant did not provide the Citi Appellees with standing to contest Victor's lien claims on the merits.<sup>18</sup> There was no requirement that Citi Appellees appear and defend on the

---

<sup>16</sup> *Rhoades v. Wright*, 622 P.2d 343, 345 (Utah 1980).

<sup>17</sup> 357 U.S. 235, 246 (1958).

<sup>18</sup> *Cf. United States v. 148,840.00 in United States Currency*, 521 F.3d 1268, 1273 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008) where the court ruled that at the summary judgment stage of an in rem proceeding a party making claim to the property in issue must "prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he has a facially colorable interest in the res such that he would be injured if" deprived of his property interest. Of course, the Citi-Appellees have entirely failed to prove they have an interest in the lien property.

merits against Victor's claim. And even when the Citi Appellees chose to appear, because they had no interest in the subject property they could have no proper interest in defending against Victor's lien claims, but only in advising the court that they had no interest in the subject property and that they were was not contesting Victor's claims.

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