2008

Victor Plastering, Inc. v. Citibank Federal Savings Bank, Citimortgage, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Appellant fails to show any reversible error made by the district court.

First, although Appellant ostensibly appeals from the district court's denial of Appellant's Motion for New Trial, Appellant sets forth no argument regarding why this determination constitutes an abuse of discretion. For this reason, this appeal should be dismissed on the basis of inadequate briefing for failure to comply with Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(9). Appellant fails to mention Rule 59 or 60, does not cite to any particular ground on which a new trial should have been granted, and makes no effort to describe any error made by the district court in its ruling on the Motion for New Trial.

Second, assuming that Appellant's argument is based upon Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 59(a)(6), that Rule provides no basis for reversal. Appellant asserts that the affidavits submitted in support of Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment contained certain evidentiary flaws and that Appellees failed to assert an interest in the subject property. These arguments are without merit. Appellant never challenged Appellees' motion or supporting affidavits in the first instance; thus, any objections relating to the affidavits submitted in support of that motion are deemed waived. Further, the record is replete with Appellees' assertions of an interest in the subject property.

Last, Appellant makes no showing that the district court erred when it granted summary judgment in favor of Appellees.

Appellant simply fails to show that the district court erred when it granted summary judgment, or when it denied Appellant's Motion for New Trial. Accordingly, this Court should affirm.

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT MAKES NO SHOWING THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR.

A. Appellant Has Inadequately Briefed the Issue of Whether the District Court Erred When it Denied Appellant's Motion for New Trial, and Otherwise Provides No Basis for a New Trial.

Appellant's Motion for New Trial, denied by the district court, was ostensibly based on Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 59 or 60. Appellant makes no mention of Rule 59 or Rule 60 in its brief, nor does it mention why denial of this motion was in error. Thus, whether the district court abused its discretion by denying Appellant's Motion for new trial – the issue at the heart of this appeal – has been insufficiently briefed.

"It is well established that a reviewing court will not address arguments that are not adequately briefed." *State v. Thomas*, 961 P.2d 299, 304 (Utah 1998). Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(9) states that the argument in the appellant's brief

shall contain the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, including the grounds for reviewing any issue not preserved in the trial court, with citations to the authorities, statutes, and parts of the record relied on.

Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9). Compliance with this rule "is mandatory, and failure to conform to these requirements may carry serious consequences." *Beehive Tel. Co. v. Public Serv. Comm'n*, 2004 UT 18 ¶ 12, 89 P.3d 131. "For example, 'briefs which are

not in compliance may be disregarded or stricken, on motion or sua sponte by the court ””
Id , ¶ 12 (quoting Utah R. App. P. 24(j))

A central issue on appeal is whether the district court abused its discretion when it denied Appellant’s Motion for New Trial. Appellant’s motion was based on Rules 59 and 60. (See R. 252-53.) Rule 59 recites certain grounds on which a new trial may be granted. See Utah Rule Civ. P. 59(a)(1)-(7). “The general rule governing the grant of a new trial is that the trial court must find at least one of the seven grounds listed in rule 59 to be met.” *Crookston*, 817 P.2d at 803. Indeed, “[a] trial court has no discretion to grant a new trial absent a showing of at least one of the circumstances specified in Utah R. Civ. P. 59(a).” *Moon Lake Electric Assoc., Inc. v. Ultrasystems Western Constructors, Inc.*, 767 P.2d 125, 128 (Utah Ct. App. 1988) (citation omitted).

Similarly, Rule 60(b) contains six specific grounds on which a court may set aside a judgment, one of which must apply. See Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b), *Menzies v. Galetka*, 2006 UT 81, ¶ 70, 150 P.3d 480.

There is no reference to either Rule 59 or Rule 60 in Appellant’s Brief. See Brief of Appellant. The district court’s ruling on the Motion for New Trial is not even mentioned, and Appellant does not analyze why the district court erred in making that ruling. See *id*. This is insufficient under Rule 24(a)(9). “To permit meaningful appellate review, briefs must comply with the briefing requirements sufficiently to enable [the Court] to understand what particular errors were allegedly made, where in the record those errors can be found, and why, under applicable authorities, those errors are material ones

necessitating reversal or other relief.’’ *State v. Lucero*, 2002 UT App 135, ¶ 13, 47 P.3d 107 (quotations and citation omitted).

Appellant’s brief makes no attempt to conform to these standards. For this reason alone, this Court may affirm. *See Valcarce v. Fitzgerald*, 961 P.2d 305, 313 (Utah 1998) (declining to address appellant's claim on appeal due to inadequate analysis).

In any event, Appellant has failed to set forth a particular basis that justifies a new trial under Rule 59(a) or Rule 60(b). Because the district court “has no discretion to grant a new trial absent a showing of at least one of the circumstances specified in Utah R.Civ.P. 59(a),” *Moon Lake Electric Assoc., Inc.*, 767 P.2d at 128, or one of the circumstances specified in Rule 60(b), *see Menzies*, 2006 UT 81, ¶ 70, Appellant makes no showing that the district court abused its discretion.

B. Appellant’s Substantive Arguments are Without Merit.

As set forth above, Appellant fails to explain the basis for its belief that the district court erred when it denied Appellant’s Motion for New Trial. Proper appellate analysis of Appellant’s arguments is therefore difficult, as it is unclear whether Appellant actually challenges the ruling on its Motion for New Trial or whether the appeal is from the decision on Appellees’ unopposed Motion for Summary Judgment. In either case, Appellant has failed to present any reason for reversal.

One can only surmise¹ that the basis for Appellant's argument is Rule 59(a)(6), which states "[i]nsufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict or other decision, or that it is against law." Utah R. Civ. P. 59(a)(6). Assuming that this is the basis for Appellant's arguments, "[t]he trial court decision will be sustained on appeal if there was an evidentiary basis for the decision." *Egbert & Jaynes v. R.C. Tolman Const. Co., Inc.*, 680 P.2d 746, 747 (Utah 1984).

Appellant's arguments are as follows:

1. The unopposed affidavits Appellants submitted to the district court were inadequate to allow for a grant of summary judgment, *see* Brief of Appellant, pp. 16-30;
2. Appellees did not prove to the district court they had an interest in the subject property, *see id.*, pp. 8-15; and
3. Based on arguments (1) and (2) above, the district court should not have granted summary judgment. *See id.*, pp. 30-34.

Each of these arguments should have been made in an opposition to Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment, but were not. The first time these arguments were presented was in Appellant's Motion for New Trial. In any event, these arguments are without basis and are insufficient to reverse the district court's determination.

¹ This is one of the reasons why Utah Appellate Courts reject briefs on the basis of insufficiency. A party should not be allowed to "shift the burden of research and argument to the reviewing court." *Smith v. Smith*, 1999 UT App 370, ¶ 8, 995 P.2d 14.

1. Appellant Waived Any Objection to the Affidavits.

Appellant argues that its Motion for New Trial should have been granted because the affidavits filed in support of Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment contained evidentiary insufficiencies. Specifically, Appellant argues that the affidavits were conclusory or otherwise lacked foundation. *See* Brief of Appellant, pp. 16-29. Appellant waived these arguments when it failed to raise them in opposition to Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

A party's failure to object to the evidentiary sufficiency of an affidavit results in the party waiving the right to object to the admitted evidence on appeal. *See D & L Supply v. Saurini*, 775 P.2d 420, 421 (Utah 1989); *Hobelman Motors, Inc. v. Allred*, 685 P.2d 544, 546 (Utah 1984); *Franklin Fin. v. New Empire Dev. Co.*, 659 P.2d 1040, 1044 (Utah 1983). In this case, Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment, and its memorandum and affidavits filed in support thereof, were filed on November 15, 2006. (R. 133-73.) Appellant filed nothing in response thereto. Accordingly, Appellees filed a notice to submit the Motion for decision on December 11, 2006. (R.175-76.) The district court issued its Memorandum Decision granting the unopposed Motion on January 16, 2007. (R. 210-13.) On this same date, Appellant filed a Motion to Strike Appellees' affidavits. (R. 217-21.) On February 2, 2007, Appellant also filed its Motion for New Trial. (R. 251-53.) The district court heard oral argument on these motions, and issued a Memorandum Decision denying the same on May 9, 2007, ruling in relevant part:

. . . [Appellees] argue and this Court agrees that on a motion for summary judgment when an opposing party fails to move to strike defective affidavits, he is deemed to have waived his opposition to whatever evidentiary defects may exist. *See Franklin Financial v. New Empire Development Co.*, 659 P.2d 1040 (Utah 1983). Because [Appellant] failed to move to strike defective affidavits on summary judgment they were waived by [Appellant] and were properly considered by the Court.

(R. 400.)

Appellant fails to show that this ruling constitutes an abuse of discretion. To the contrary, the district court's ruling is entirely consistent with Utah case law. In *Hoberlman Motors, Inc. v. Allred*, 685 P.2d 544 (Utah 1984), plaintiff noted that an affidavit submitted by the defendant in support of a motion for summary judgment was not notarized as required by Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56(e). However, because this issue was not properly pointed out in opposition to that motion, it was deemed waived:

[I]f the opposing party does not move in a timely fashion to object to affidavits or strike them and hence they are admitted, then that party waives the right to show that they do not comply with Rule 56(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. It appears from the record that plaintiff took no action with respect to the affidavit in question and has therefore waived any right to contest its admission.

Id. at 546 (citations and quotations omitted).

Similarly, in *D & L Supply v. Saurini*, 775 P.2d 420 (Utah 1989), defendant argued on appeal that the affidavits submitted in support of a summary judgment motion contained inadmissible hearsay. The Utah Supreme Court agreed, but noted that, since the matter had not been addressed at the time the motion was filed, the matter had been waived:

It is true that inadmissible evidence cannot be considered in ruling on a motion for summary judgment. *Norton v. Blackham*, 669 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1983). It is also true that there are evidentiary problems on the face of the Leftwich affidavit and in the recitation of supposedly uncontested facts in D & L's memorandum of points and authorities submitted in support of the motion. Saurini, however, waived these errors when he failed to object at the trial court. See *Hobelman Motors, Inc. v. Allred*, 685 P.2d 544, 546 (Utah 1984) (affidavit in opposition to motion for summary judgment not properly notarized, but objection waived where not timely made); *Franklin Fin. v. New Empire Dev. Co.*, 659 P.2d 1040, 1044 (Utah 1983) (even if affidavits in support of summary judgment were defective, party opposing summary judgment motion failed to move to strike and was deemed to have waived his opposition to evidentiary defects).

Id. at 421.

Here, Appellant did not file a timely response in opposition to Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment. See Utah R. Civ. P. 7(c)(1) ("Within ten days after service of the motion and supporting memorandum, a party opposing the motion shall file a memorandum in opposition."). Instead, well after the motion had been submitted for decision, Appellant filed an untimely motion to strike Appellees' affidavits and a Motion for New Trial. Appellant alleged, as it alleges on appeal, that the affidavits were conclusory and lacked foundation. See Motion to Strike the Affidavits of Wayne Flynn and Jim Beech, pp. 2-4 (R. 218-20). By that time, Appellant had missed by several weeks the opportunity to make those arguments, and the district court had already granted Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment.

The district court was well within its broad discretion to determine that Appellant's objections had been waived. The Utah Supreme Court has made clear that waiver of evidentiary objections applies to arguments regarding foundation:

Appellants assert that Franklin's supporting affidavits were defective because they were not based on personal knowledge, they contained inadmissible conclusions of law, and they referred to documents that were not attached.... [I]f, on a motion for summary judgment, an opposing party fails to move to strike defective affidavits, he is deemed to have waived his opposition to whatever evidentiary defects may exist.

Franklin Fin. v. New Empire Dev. Co., 659 P.2d 1040, 1043-44 (Utah 1983); *see also Fox v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 453 P.2d 701, 702-03 (Utah 1969) ("By failing to move to strike the affidavit of Lamborne, the plaintiff waived the right to show whether the affiant knew first handed that about which he deposed.").

Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it held that Appellant waived any evidentiary objections to the affidavits.

2. Appellant's Argument That Appellees Failed to Show They Had an Interest in the Subject Property is Without Merit.

Appellant also argues that summary judgment was improper because Appellees failed to show they had an interest in the subject property. This argument has no merit.

Rule 56(c) provides in relevant part, "[t]he judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).

Appellant's Amended Complaint, par. 15, alleges in relevant part: "Defendants . . . Direct Mortgage Corporation. . . [and] Citibank Federal Savings Bank. . . all hold some claim of right, title, or interest to the aforementioned property. . . ." Am. Compl., ¶ 15 (R. 63.)

Based on this ownership interest alleged by Appellant, Appellant alleges that it was entitled to a Decree of Foreclosure of its mechanic's lien and an Order of Sale. *Id.*, ¶ 21 (R. 62-63.)

Citibank Federal Savings' Answer responds as follows: "In response to paragraph 15 of the Amended Complaint, Defendant admits that it claims an interest in the property and denies that its interests [sic] is inferior to the interests of Plaintiff." *See* Citibank Federal Savings' Answer to Am. Compl., ¶ 7 (R. 96) and Ninth Affirmative Defense ("Defendant's interests are prior and superior to any interest Plaintiff may have in the subject property."). (R. 94.)

In addition, the Appellees moved the district court to substitute CitiMortgage, Inc. for another named Defendant, Direct Mortgage Corp, as the real party in interest. (R. 101-03.) In its Memorandum in Support of Motion to Substitute, Appellees alleged that CitiMortgage was the beneficiary of the Trust Deed recorded against the subject property, "which interest Plaintiff seeks to foreclose in this action." (R. 117.) The district court granted this motion on September 28, 2006; the motion was unopposed. (R. 123-25.) CitiMortgage then filed its own Answer, also admitting (at paragraph 7) it had an interest in the subject property. (R. 130.)

In its summary judgment materials, Appellees included the Affidavit of Miriam Harper, which had attached as Exhibit “A” an abstract of the subject property that she had downloaded from the Utah County recorder’s website. Appellees’ interests in the real property are evidenced on the very first page of the abstract of title, Citimortgage with an assignment of an interest (“AS”) on 3/06/06, and Citibank Federal Savings with a trust deed (“D TR”) on 11/18/2004. (R. 143, Ex.A).

Accordingly, the “pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any,” contain information that shows Appellees asserted an interest in the subject property. Appellant’s argument that no such information is of record is incorrect.

3. Appellant’s Argument Regarding the “Burden of Production” is Without Merit.

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